DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

No. 21-CV-511



Clerk of the Court Received 11/24/2021 10:30 AM Resubmitted 11/24/2021 01:06 PM Filed 11/24/2021 01:06 PM

FRATERNAL ORDER OF POLICE METROPOLITAN POLICE DEPARTMENT LABOR COMMITTEE,

Appellant,

v.

THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, et al.,

Appellees.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA (Case No. 2020 CA 003492 B) The Honorable William M. Jackson Presiding

BRIEF OF APPELLANT FRATERNAL ORDER OF POLICE/METROPOLITAN POLICE DEPARTMENT LABOR COMMITTEE, D.C. POLICE UNION

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This appeal is from the District of Columbia Superior Court's Order granting Appellees' Motion to Dismiss Appellant Fraternal Order of Police, Metropolitan Police Department Labor Committee, D.C. Police Union's ("D.C. Police Union") Amended Complaint. As such, this appeal is from a final judgment disposing of all of the parties' claims.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

(1) Whether the D.C. Police Union has standing to assert the claims in its Amended Complaint;

(2) Whether Subtitle B of the Comprehensive Policing and Justice Reform Second Temporary Amendment Act of 2020 violates the Separation of Powers between the Mayor of the District of Columbia and the D.C. Council; and

(3) Whether Subtitle B of the Comprehensive Policing and Justice Reform Second Temporary Amendment Act of 2020 violates D.C. Police Union members' fundamental right to privacy under the Due Process guarantees of the D.C. Home Rule Act.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 7, 2020, the Council of the District of Columbia (the "Council") approved and signed the Comprehensive Policing and Justice Reform Second Emergency Amendment Act of 2020 (the "Emergency Act"). JA at 251, ¶ 9. On

July 9, 2020, the Council transmitted the Emergency Act to Mayor Bowser, who signed the Emergency Act on July 22, 2020. JA at 251-52, ¶ 9.

Subtitle B of the Emergency Act amended D.C. Code § 5-116.33 to provide new language that removed any discretion from the Mayor regarding the release of certain police Body-Worn Camera ("BWC") recordings and names of officers involved in an officer-involved death or serious use of force and required the release of the recordings and names of officers within five days of the incident. *See* JA at 252, ¶ 10.

The Emergency Act was thereafter renewed through a series of additional emergency, interim, and temporary legislation, all of which contained the same language in Subtitle B. *See* JA at 258, 344-45. Pursuant to the Emergency Act, the Mayor has released several BWC recordings and the names of officers involved in officer-involved deaths and serious use of force incidents. *See* JA at 344-45.

On August 7, 2020, the D.C. Police Union filed a Verified Complaint against the District of Columbia and Muriel Bowser, in her official capacity as Mayor of the District of Columbia (collectively the "District"), claiming that the Act's removal of Mayoral discretion over the public release of BWC recordings and officer names involved in officer-involved death or serious use of force violated the separation of powers between the Mayor and the Council and also violated the Due Process privacy rights of D.C. Police Union members. JA at 5-19. On October 27, 2020, the D.C. Police Union filed an Amended Complaint. JA at 244-66. On November 10, 2020, the District filed a Motion to Dismiss the Amended Complaint. JA at 300. On November 24, 2020, the D.C. Police Union filed an Opposition to the District's Motion to Dismiss. JA at 341.

On July 16, 2021, the Honorable William M. Jackson granted the District's Motion to Dismiss the Amended Complaint, ruling that the D.C. Police Union did not have standing to raise its claims and that it had failed to state a claim upon which relief could be granted for violations of the separation of powers doctrine and the due process rights of D.C. Police Union members. JA at 448-58.

The D.C. Police Union seeks reversal of the Superior Court's Order on the grounds that D.C. Police Union has organizational and/or associational standing to bring the claims in its Amended Complaint, and that it has sufficiently stated claims for violations of the separation of powers doctrine and the due process rights of its members.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The executive power of the District of Columbia is vested in the Mayor, who is the chief executive officer of the District government. JA at 250-51, ¶ 5 (citing D.C. Code § 1-204.22). As the chief executive officer, "it shall be the duty of the Mayor of the District of Columbia . . . (1) To preserve the public peace; (2) To prevent crime and arrest offenders; (3) To protect the rights of persons and of proper; . . . (10) To enforce and obey all laws and ordinances in force in the District, or any part thereof, which are properly applicable to police or health, and not inconsistent with the provisions of this title." *Id.* (quoting D.C. Code § 5-101.03). Pursuant to the Comprehensive Merit Personnel Act ("CMPA"), the Metropolitan Police Department ("MPD") is a "subordinate agency" under "the direct administrative control of the Mayor." JA at 251, ¶ 6 (quoting D.C. Code §1-603.01(17)(L)).

In October of 2014, the MPD established a Body-Worn Camera program. JA at 251, \P 7. The Mayor is solely responsible for establishing rules regarding public access to BWC recordings:

(a) The Mayor, pursuant to subchapter I of Chapter 5 of Title 2, and in accordance with this section, shall issue rules regarding the Metropolitan Police Department's Body-Worn Camera Program. The rules, at a minimum, shall provide:

(1) Standards for public access to body-worn camera recordings.

Id. (quoting D.C. Code § 5-116.32). Similarly, the Mayor was empowered under applicable regulations to exercise her discretion in releasing BWC footage, as follows:

The Mayor may, on a case-by-case basis in matters of significant public interest and after consultation with the Chief of Police, the United States Attorney's Office for the District of Columbia, and the Office of the Attorney General, release BWC recordings that would otherwise not be releasable pursuant to a FOIA request. Examples of matters of significant public interest include officer-involved shootings, serious use of force by an officer, and assaults on an officer requiring hospitalization.

JA at 251, ¶ 8 (quoting 24 DCMR §3900.10).

On July 7, 2020, the Council approved and signed the Comprehensive Policing and Justice Reform Second Emergency Amendment Act of 2020. JA at 251-52, ¶ 9. The Emergency Act was passed on an emergency basis without public notice or participation, and without the participation of the D.C. Police Union's members or any of the District's law enforcement officers directly impacted by the Emergency Act. *Id.* On July 9, 2020, the Council transmitted the Emergency Act to Mayor Bowser, who, on July 22, 2020, signed the Emergency Act. JA at 252, ¶ 9.

Subtitle B of the Emergency Act amended D.C. Code § 5-116.33 to provide the following new language, which removed any discretion from the Mayor regarding the release of certain BWC recordings and names of officers involved in an officer-involved death or serious use of force:

(B) The Mayor:

(i) Shall, except as provided in paragraph (2) of this subsection:

(I) Within 5 business days after an officer-involved death or serious use of force, publicly release the names and body-worn camera recordings of all officers who committed the officer-involved death or serious use of force; and (II) By August 15, 2020, publicly release the names and bodyworn camera recordings of all officers who have committed an officer-involved death since the Body-Worn Camera Program was launched on October 1, 2014.

JA at 252, ¶ 10. Similarly, Subtitle B of the Emergency Act amended 24 DCMR

§3900.10 by adding the following:

(a) Notwithstanding any other law, the Mayor:

(1) Shall, except as provided in paragraph (b) of this subsection:

(A) Within 5 business days after an officer-involved death or serious use of force, publicly release the names and BWC recordings of all officers who committed the officer-involved death or serious use of force; and

(B) By August 15, 2020, publicly release the names and BWC recordings of all officers who have committed an officer-involved death since the Body-Worn Camera Program was launched on October 1, 2014.

JA at 252, ¶ 11.

Shortly after the Emergency Act was passed, the MPD's Intelligence Branch, which is tasked with assessing threats against government officials in the District, contacted all officers who were to be identified pursuant to Subtitle B and asked those officers a series of questions designed to assess the threat level posed against the officers and their families, such as whether the officer had an alarm system, whether the officer's home was equipped with cameras, and whether the officer wanted the MPD to reach out to local law enforcement in the jurisdiction of their residence to have local law enforcement increase patrol of their neighborhood during the days surrounding the release of the footage. JA at 255, ¶ 16. Several officers accepted the offer of enhanced police patrol of their neighborhood. *Id.* Additionally, the MPD's Chief Operating Officer Leann Turner contacted Dr. Beverly Anderson, the Clinical Director of the Metropolitan Police Employee Assistance Program ("MPEAP"), which provides confidential counseling services to MPD officers and their family members, and advised her that Chief of Police Peter Newsham wanted to ensure that every officer was contacted prior to the release of the body-worn camera footage. JA at 255-56, ¶ 17.

Pursuant to Subtitle B(i)(II) of the Emergency Act, the District publicly released the names and BWC footage of all officers who committed an officerinvolved death since the BWC program was launched on October 1, 2014. *See* JA at 305-306. In addition, pursuant to Subtitle B(i)(I) of the Emergency Act, Mayor Bowser released the officer names and BWC footage for three incidents that occurred within two months after passage of the Emergency Act. *See* JA at 306-307.

While the Emergency Act was in effect, the Council enrolled the Comprehensive Policing and Justice Reform Second Temporary Amendment Act of 2020 (the "Temporary Act"). JA at 258, 307. The Temporary Act contains provisions that are identical to Subtitle B of the Emergency Act set forth above. On August 21, 2020, Mayor Bowser signed the Temporary Act and it was thereafter published in the District of Columbia Register. JA at 258, ¶ 22.

On September 22, 2020, after passage and transmittal of the Temporary Act, the Council enrolled the Comprehensive Policing and Justice Reform Congressional Review Emergency Amendment Act of 2020 (the "Interim Act"). *Id.* The same day, the Council formally approved a resolution explicitly clarifying that the Interim Act was designed to prevent a gap between the expiration of the Emergency Act and the effective date of the Temporary Act. *See* https://lims.dccouncil.us/Legislation/PR23-0948 (last accessed Sept. 21, 2021). The Interim Act contains provisions that are identical to Subtitle B of the Emergency Act expired. JA at 258, ¶ 22. On October 28, 2020, the Interim Act was signed by Mayor Bowser and became effective.² JA at 308.

¹ Subtitle B of the Emergency Act, Interim Act, and Temporary Act are identical. Therefore, the D.C. Police Union will refer to Subtitle B, in any of its iterations, as "Subtitle B of the Act" throughout this Brief, as it did in the proceedings below.

² Since the D.C. Police Union's Amended Complaint was dismissed, the Council has continued to pass legislation that includes the identical provisions of Subtitle B, with Subtitle B currently operating pursuant to the Comprehensive Policing and Justice Reform Congressional Review Emergency Amendment Act of 2021, which was signed by Mayor Bowser and became effective on July 29, 2021. *See* https://lims.dccouncil.us/Legislation/B24-0311 (last accessed Oct. 18, 2021).

On October 29, 2020, pursuant to Subtitle B of the Act, the District released the officer name and BWC footage from an officer-involved death that occurred on October 23, 2020. *Id.* Of note, the October 23, 2020 death occurred during the brief period in which Subtitle B was not in effect, but the District nonetheless released the officer name and BWC footage related to that incident.

Following the disclosures of officer names and BWC footage for the officerinvolved deaths that occurred on September 2, 2020 and October 23, 2020, evidence accumulated that demonstrated that such disclosures put D.C. Police Union members, their families, and their children at risk of serious bodily harm. For example, after a justified shooting incident occurred on September 2, 2020, credible death threats were made against the officer involved, his family, and his children, requiring an investigation by the MPD's Intelligence Branch. JA at 257-One death threat stated: "#GREENLIGHT ON ALL #DCPOLICE 58, ¶ 21. #KIDS #SINCE THEY #KILLING #OUR #FAMILY #KILL #THEM #NEXT #LETSGO #SOUTHSIDE." JA at 258, 277. Another threat stated "shit gone be turnt up when found out address and where children go to school at!" JA at 258, 278. A similar threat stated: "we need the police officer picture so we can see who he is . . . it's not going to be safe for him no more . . . Street Justice is the best Justice for this cop we need to know who he is a address and everything." JA at 258, 279.

Similarly, in an officer-involved traffic death that occurred on October 23, 2020, flyers were passed out in the District that directly identified the officer involved, and that included veiled threats of violence, which were mirrored on social media. *See* JA at 378-80.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review for an appeal from the Superior Court's dismissal of a complaint pursuant to Sup. Ct. R. 12(b)(6), is *de novo. See Johnson-El v. District of Columbia*, 279 A.2d 163, 166 (D.C. 1990); *Drake v. McNair*, 993 A.2d 607, 615 (D.C. 2010). This *de novo* review applies to a dismissal for lack of standing. *See Exec. Sandwich Shoppe, Inc. v. Carr Realty Corp.*, 749 A.2d 724, 730 (D.C. 2000). Where a statute is challenged on constitutional grounds, the Court of Appeals also reviews such challenges *de novo. See In re Warner*, 905 A.2d 233, 237 (D.C. 2006) (citations omitted); *Unum Life Ins. Co. of Am. V. District of Columbia*, 238 A.3d 222, 226 (D.C. 2020) (citations omitted). *De novo* review of dismissal of a complaint requires the Court of Appeals to apply the same standards that were applied by the Superior Court. *See Solers, Inc. v. Doe*, 977 A.2d 941, 947 (D.C. 2009); *Johnson-El*, 279 A.2d at 166.

Thus, in deciding a motion to dismiss, the Court must accept as true all factual allegations in the Complaint and view them in a light most favorable to the plaintiff. *See*, *e.g.*, *Owens v. Tibert Island Condominium Ass'n*, 373 A.2d 890

(D.C. 1977). Although the Court need not accept legal conclusions as true, it must still accept the veracity of all underlying factual allegations and determine whether the Complaint has facial plausibility. *See Potomac Dev. Corp. v. District of Columbia*, 28 A.3d 531, 544 (D.C. 2011). Dismissal is impermissible unless it appears beyond doubt that the plaintiff can prove no set of facts that would entitle the plaintiff to relief on the plaintiff's claims. *See, e.g., Abdullah v. Roach*, 668 A.2d 801 (D.C. 1995).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The D.C. Police Union has organizational standing to bring its claims, as it will be forced to divert its resources to publicly defend its members whose identities are disclosed pursuant to Subtitle B, and to pursue grievances on behalf of those members on various grounds relating to those disclosures. These expenditures would not have occurred but-for the District's actions taken pursuant to Subtitle B.

The D.C. Police Union also has associational standing to bring its claims. Associational standing is present where an association's members would have standing to bring the lawsuit themselves. The D.C. Police Union's members have suffered concrete injuries adequately pled in the Amended Complaint, which are traceable to the District's implementation and enforcement of Subtitle B. As such, the D.C. Police Union has associational standing. The D.C. Police Union adequately alleged facts and law in the Amended Complaint to state a claim for violation of the separation of powers between the Mayor and the Council. The executive power of the Mayor includes and requires discretion over the regulation, operation, and management of the Metropolitan Police Department, which is a subordinate agency within the executive branch. By enacting Subtitle B, the Council impermissibly burdened and encroached upon the Mayor's exclusive executive discretion in violation of the principle of separation of powers codified in D.C. law.

The D.C. Police Union also adequately alleged facts and law in the Amended Complaint to state a claim for violation of its members' fundamental right to privacy under the Due Process guarantees of the D.C. Home Rule Act. This Court has previously held that D.C. Police Union members have a legitimate privacy interest in their names and other identifying information. Subtitle B mandates the disclosure of an officer's name in relation to use of force incidents for which there will necessarily be investigations of the officer, thereby depriving the officer of their legitimate privacy interests.

ARGUMENT

A. <u>The D.C. Police Union Has Standing to Prosecute the Claims in the</u> <u>Amended Complaint.</u>

When a plaintiff's standing is challenged in a motion to dismiss, this Court has held that the facts of the complaint must be accepted as true and construed in favor of the complaining party and the trial court is permitted to "conduct an independent review of the evidence submitted by the parties, including affidavits, to resolve factual disputes concerning whether subject-matter jurisdiction exists." *UMC Dev., LLC v. District of Columbia*, 120 A.3d 37, 43 (D.C. 2015); *see also Grayson v. AT&T Corp.*, 15 A.3d 219, 246 (D.C. 2011). As set forth in the Amended Complaint and supporting affidavits and exhibits, as well as additional information in the record that was presented to the Superior Court, the D.C. Police Union has standing in this matter.

1. <u>The D.C. Police Union Has Organizational Standing to Bring this</u> <u>Action.</u>

An organization, like an individual, has standing to bring a lawsuit, "so long as it satisfies the constitutional requirements and prudential prerequisites of traditional standing analysis." *D.C. Appleseed Ctr. for Law & Justice v. D.C. Dep't of Ins., Sec., & Banking*, 54 A.3d 1188, 1205-06 (D.C. 2012). Specifically, the suing organization need only show that resources have been drained or diverted in response to the defendant's unlawful actions:

[T]he question of standing turns on whether the organization's activities in pursuit of [its] mission have been affected in a sufficiently specific manner as to warrant judicial intervention. This requires a showing that the defendant's unlawful actions have caused a concrete and demonstrable injury to the organization's activities—with the consequent drain on the organization's resources. <u>Generally, when an organization is forced to divert resources to counteract the effects of another's unlawful acts, it has suffered a sufficiently concrete injury to bestow standing.</u>

Equal Rights Ctr. v. Properties Int'l, 110 A.3d 599, 604 (D.C. 2015) (internal citations and quotation marks omitted) (emphasis added). Moreover, it is irrelevant whether it is the D.C. Police Union's choice to divert those resources, so long as the diversion is caused by the challenged conduct:

[T]he district court erroneously concluded that the ERC could not establish standing because it "chose to redirect its resources to investigate Post's allegedly discriminatory practices." Equal Rights Ctr., 657 F.Supp.2d at 201 (emphasis in original); see also id. ("ERC still needs to establish that the injuries it suffered were not due to a self-inflicted diversion of resources." (emphasis in original)). That the ERC voluntarily, or "willful[ly]," id. at 200, diverts its resources, however, does not automatically mean that it cannot suffer an injury sufficient to confer standing. In both BMC and Spann, the plaintiff organizations chose to redirect their resources to counteract the effects of the defendants' allegedly unlawful acts; they could have chosen instead not to respond. In neither case did our standing analysis depend on the voluntariness or involuntariness of the plaintiffs' expenditures. Instead, we focused on whether they undertook the expenditures in response to, and to counteract, the effects of the defendants' alleged discrimination rather than in anticipation of litigation.

See Equal Rights Ctr. v. Post Properties, Inc., 633 F.3d 1136, 1140 (D.C. Cir.

2011) (emphasis added).

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