No. 21-CV-511

Received 02/24/2022 09:35 PM IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEA IF & d 02/24/2022 09:35 PM

FRATERNAL ORDER OF POLICE METROPOLITAN POLICE DEPARTMENT LABOR COMMITTEE, APPELLANT,

V.

THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, et al., APPELLEES.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

BRIEF FOR APPELLEES THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA AND MURIEL BOWSER

KARL A. RACINE

Attorney General for the District of Columbia

CAROLINE S. VAN ZILE Acting Solicitor General

ASHWIN P. PHATAK Deputy Solicitor General

*MEGAN D. BROWDER Assistant Attorney General Office of the Solicitor General

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

FOP's alleged injury is also not redressable by this Court. Even without Section 103, the Mayor has discretion to publicly release BWC footage, so a favorable ruling from this Court will not necessarily redress FOP's alleged injuries. See Am. Chemistry Council v. Dep't of Transp., 468 F.3d 810, 820 (D.C. Cir. 2006) (holding that petitioners who "never explain[ed] how" a favorable court ruling would redress the alleged injury lacked standing). Indeed, as FOP acknowledges, the Mayor immediately released BWC footage from an officer-involved death in 2020 during a period of time in which Section 103 was not in force. Br. 9. And beyond that, members of the public are free to record and release videos of officers involved in public encounters regardless of the availability of BWC footage.

FOP's allegation that it will spend more resources defending its members in disciplinary or grievance proceedings is even more tenuously connected to Section 103's mandatory disclosure requirement. As the Superior Court explained, FOP's claim depends on "a chain of events that essentially start from the Mayor's release of the footage, to less witnesses willing to testify, to a more difficult investigation, to a lower closure rate, to potential transfers or disciplinary action, and then to [FOP's] decision whether to represent the officer, assuming the officer is one of [its] members." JA 454. But again, the Mayor already has discretion to publicly release

BWC footage. And any consequences regarding how such disclosures will affect the ability of officers to complete investigations, how that effect might impact their job performance, whether it will result in disciplinary action, and how any such disciplinary action will affect FOP's operations is purely speculative. As noted above, FOP has failed to offer any evidence as to how prior releases of BWC footage have affected its operations, let alone shown that any of these fanciful outcomes regarding officer discipline have come to pass. Its allegations therefore do not come close to meeting the requirements of causation and redressability.

B. FOP does not have associational standing.

FOP similarly fails to allege associational standing. "[A]n association has standing to bring suit on behalf of its members when . . . its members would otherwise have standing to sue in their own right." *Richman Towers Tenants' Ass'n, Inc. v. Richman Towers LLC*, 17 A.3d 590, 599 (D.C. 2011); *see Am. Chemistry Council*, 468 F.3d at 820 (stating that an organization "must show that at least one specifically-identified member has suffered an injury-in-fact" when it brings a claim based on associational standing). FOP alleges three harms to its members: (1) reputational harm, (2) risk of physical harm, and (3) potential psychological

harm. JA 254. As alleged, these are not cognizable injuries that are traceable to Section 103 and redressable by this Court.⁷

FOP's conclusory assertion that Section 103 will cause its members reputational injury, JA 254, "does not satisfy the [standing] requirement for specific, concrete facts demonstrating injury, and particularized allegations of fact," *Block v. Meese*, 793 F.2d 1303, 1308 (D.C. Cir. 1986). As explained above, the Mayor has released over thirty officer names in conjunction with BWC recordings, yet FOP fails to identify a single specific instance of reputational injury, even where the officer's actions are later deemed justified. *See Am. Chemistry Council*, 468 F.3d at 820 (noting that even when "actual harm is absent" the plaintiff must allege "the imminent nature of a specific harm to a specific party"). Such conclusory allegations of reputational harm without any evidence or even assertion that officers have faced such reputational harms in the past are not enough to confer standing.

The District did not, as FOP claims, concede that FOP has associational standing. See Br. 18. The District simply "acknowledged" the legal rule "that an association can establish standing" by showing an injury to its members. See Br. 18 (quoting JA 124 (TRO Hearing)) (emphasis added). The District argued, however, that here, FOP has not established such an injury because the amended complaint "reli[es] purely on speculation and conclusory allegations." D.C. TRO Opp. at 12. And the trial court ultimately agreed. JA 455 ("Similar to organizational standing, the plaintiff's claims fail largely as a result of the requirement for concrete injury.").

FOP's purported reputational harms also do not "derive[] directly from government action." Foretich v. United States, 351 F.3d 1198, 1214 (D.C. Cir. 2003). Just as with FOP's organizational harms, the release of the BWC footage does not "directly" cause the purported harm. Id. (holding that a plaintiff had standing because a statute "directly damage[d]" his reputation by "effectively branding him a child abuser and unfit parent"). Section 103 requires only the release of BWC footage, which does not, by itself, make any normative judgments about the officers involved. It is only if the public—that is, third parties—react negatively and think differently about a particular officer that this harm will come to pass. See Crawford v. U.S. Dep't of Treasury, 868 F.3d 438, 457 (6th Cir. 2017) (holding that "an injury that results from the third party's voluntary and independent actions or omissions does not" "suffice for standing"). In any event, there is no reason to think that the release of BWC footage will on balance diminish—rather than bolster officers' reputations. As the Superior Court reasoned, it "is equally likely for someone to reach the conclusion that an officer was justified in utilizing force in a particular instance, which would not result in any reputational harm." JA 455-56.8

Notably, a recent study suggests that viewing police camera footage does not cause many viewers to change their minds, but simply ingrains predisposed beliefs about police conduct. *See* Roseanna Sommers, *Will Putting Cameras on Police Reduce Polarization?*, 125 Yale L.J. 1304, 1312 (2016) (concluding that "video evidence remains susceptible to significant viewer bias and simultaneously causes

Finally, the purported reputational harm is also not redressable by this Court. As explained above, even if this Court were to invalidate Section 103, the Mayor still retains the discretion to publicly release BWC footage for any officer-involved death or serious use of force, as she has for over half a decade. And the public similarly may record and disseminate videos of incidents involving police.

2. The alleged physical and psychological harm to FOP's members is insufficient to show standing.

FOP also asserts that Section 103 will "place officers and the public at immediate risk of significant bodily harm" and cause psychological harm to officers. JA 254. To begin, FOP does not have standing to assert claims on behalf of "the public." *See Exec. Sandwich Shoppe, Inc. v. Carr Realty Corp.*, 749 A.2d 724, 731 (D.C. 2000) (noting the "general prohibition on a litigant's raising another person's legal rights"). And, while FOP can assert such a claim on behalf of officers, it still has not alleged that any harm is imminent, caused by the District, or redressable by this Court.

The sole factual support in the amended complaint for FOP's allegation that Section 103 poses an immediate risk of physical harm to its members is three anonymous, undated social media posts following the officer-involved death of

some fact finders—namely those who feel a strong affinity with police officers—to become more certain of their judgments and more resistant to persuasion by others who disagree").

Deon Kay. 9 See JA 258. But these posts are insufficient to show a "concrete" or "imminent" threat of physical injury. Lujan, 504 U.S. at 560. As the Superior Court explained, "one anonymous social media post and two comments made in relation to said post" are "insufficient" to show a "real and immediate" threat of injury. JA 456. FOP offers no allegations about when these comments were posted in relation to the release of the footage, who the individuals who posted these messages are, whether they had any actual intention to harm anyone, and whether officers faced any real threat from the posts. Indeed, the posts do not name any individual officer, but state general frustration with all MPD officers. The amended complaint is simply devoid of factual allegations to support an inference of real or immediate threat of injury. 10 Cf. High v. United States, 128 A.3d 1017, 1021 (D.C. 2015) (holding that arrestee's statement to officer to "take that gun and badge off and I'll fuck you up" was not a credible threat because "an ordinary hearer" would not "reasonably fear imminent or future serious bodily harm or injury"); Lewis v. United

MPD's proactive offer of local law enforcement patrols for officers identified in BWC releases does not, as FOP suggests, show that the release "will result in a risk of significant bodily harm." Br. 21. The District took affirmative steps to ensure that its officers receive appropriate support; such actions do not concede that any threat is immediate or imminent.

FOP also appended another social media post to its opposition to the District's motion to dismiss. JA 378-79; see Br. 19. The amended complaint does not mention this post, let alone allege that the picture of the officer was obtained from the public release of BWC footage pursuant to Section 103. In any event, it suffers from the same infirmities as the posts after Mr. Kay's death.

States, 95 A.3d 1289, 1291 (D.C. 2014) (similar). "If [FOP's] claim to standing arises out of safety concerns for [its] members, [it] should easily have access to information concerning whether any one of [its] members has been harmed or faces a substantial probability of being harmed by" Section 103; this Court should "decline to assume missing links." *Am. Chemistry Council*, 468 F.3d at 819-20.

Similarly, FOP's allegations of psychological harm cannot support associational standing. FOP relies on the affidavit from Dr. Beverly Anderson, the Clinical Director of the Metropolitan Police Employee Assistance Program, which provides counseling services to MPD officers. JA 242. Dr. Anderson opined that public release of BWC footage showing an officer-involved death "can inflict serious psychological trauma on the officer" and officers are "particularly vulnerable to psychological harm" in the "early days following a serious use of force incident or incident concerning an officer involved death, ... which would be exacerbated by the public release of the body-worn camera footage of the incident." JA 243. Even assuming psychological harm alone can suffice for standing, *United States v.* All Funds on Deposit with R.J. O'Brien & Assocs., 783 F.3d 607, 616 (7th Cir. 2015) (stating that "purely psychological harm" is insufficient for standing), Dr. Anderson's opinions are just that—opinions—and lack any factual support. See Ashcroft v. Igbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009) (court is not required to accept "naked assertions devoid of further factual enhancement"). The Mayor has released dozens

of BWC recordings and officer names over the past few years, but FOP does not allege a single incident of psychological harm resulting from the release of such footage, let alone harm caused by the video as opposed to the trauma of the underlying incident itself.¹¹ *See Am. Chemistry Council*, 468 F.3d at 819-20.

Even if FOP had alleged a cognizable injury, the amended complaint does not allege that these injuries are caused by the District or could be redressed by this Court. 12 Regarding the supposed threat of physical harm, FOP asserts that such harm is "directly traceable to the District" because "the release of BWC recordings and officers' names . . . caused the MPD's Intelligence Branch to contact the officers whose names and BWC footage were going to be released to assess the threat level."

_

FOP's reliance on *D.C. Library Renaissance Project v. D.C. Zoning Commission*, 73 A.3d 107 (D.C. 2013), and *Dupont Circle Association v. Barry*, 455 A.2d 417 (D.C. 1983), is inapposite. Those cases involved administrative appeals, which do not "depend on the elements of standing that judicial review would require." *D.C. Lib. Renaissance Proj.*, 73 A.3d at 113; *see Economides v. D.C. Bd. of Zoning Adjustment*, 954 A.2d 427, 434 (D.C. 2008) (noting "the more relaxed standard of standing enjoyed by those who appeal administrative decisions rather than those of the courts").

FOP's reliance on *Massachusetts v. EPA*, 549 U.S. 497, 523 (2007), Br. 28-29, is misplaced. The Supreme Court did not, as FOP asserts, hold that anytime a "defendant's action 'contributes' to the plaintiff's injury, the causation element of standing is met." Br. 28. Rather, in that case the EPA did "not dispute the existence of a causal connection" between the challenged action and the purported injury. *Massachusetts*, 549 U.S. at 523. The Supreme Court has, however, repeatedly affirmed that an injury that is "th[e] result [of] the independent action of some third party not before the court" does not suffice for standing absent a showing of "injury produced by a determinative or coercive effect upon the action of someone else." *Bennett v. Spear*, 520 U.S. 154, 169 (1997). FOP has made no such allegations here.

Br. 27-28. But MPD's proactive approach to a possible—even if implausible—threat from third parties cannot in itself prove standing. Indeed, the chain of inferences between Section 103 and any potential physical harm to officers is far too tenuous: this Court must assume that BWC footage would place the depicted officers in a bad light, that the footage would spur third parties to wish harm upon the officers depicted, and that these third parties would in fact take affirmative steps to break the law and harm them. This speculative chain of events is too indirect to meet the traceability element. *See Crawford*, 868 F.3d at 457; *cf. Romero v. Nat'l Rifle Ass'n of Am., Inc.*, 749 F.2d 77, 81 (D.C. Cir. 1984) (noting "the general rule of nonliability at common law for harm resulting from the criminal acts of third parties").

With regard to psychological harm, FOP relies on Dr. Anderson's affidavit that immediate public release would "exacerbate" already-occurring psychological trauma. Br. 28-29. But FOP has made no effort to explain the "causal connection" between immediate public release and increased psychological harm. *Id.* (quoting *Lujan*, 504 U.S. at 560). Dr. Anderson's conclusory opinion, without explanation of why it is legitimate, cannot form a basis for finding standing. *See Iqbal*, 556 U.S. at 681 (noting that conclusory allegations are "not entitled to be assumed true").

Similarly, FOP has not explained how invalidating Section 103 will redress any of these alleged harms. Br. 29. The core of FOP's alleged harm is that the *immediate* release of BWC footage or officer names will inflict an injury. As

explained repeatedly, however, under preexisting law which FOP does not challenge, the Mayor can release any BWC footage covered by Section 103 at any time, and members of the public can—and do—record and publicly release video of police officers in the line of duty all the time. FOP has not alleged that it is "likely, as opposed to merely speculative" that *any* of the alleged injuries "will be redressed by a favorable decision." *Glennborough Homeowners Ass'n v. USPS*, 21 F.4th 410, 417 (6th Cir. 2021) (quoting *Lujan*, 504 U.S. at 560).

* * *

FOP and its members have a policy disagreement with Section 103: they believe that releases of body-worn camera footage should be discretionary, not mandatory, as the Act requires. But the Council and the Mayor thought differently, and standing doctrine exists to "prevent the judicial process from being used to usurp the powers of the political branches." *Clapper v. Amnesty Int'l USA*, 568 U.S. 398,

FOP has waived any argument asserting a free-standing privacy injury by failing to develop it in its opening brief. *See* Br. 28 (stating, without explanation, that the "allegation that the District's action will further impermissibly invade the officer's fundamental right to privacy is directly traceable to the District's action in releasing the officer's name"); *McFarland v. George Wash. Univ.*, 935 A.2d 337, 351 (D.C. 2007) ("Issues adverted to in a perfunctory manner, unaccompanied by some effort at developed argumentation, are deemed waived."). FOP has not alleged how Section 103 can injure an officer when the nature of police work necessarily means that officer's names and actions are subject to public view and, in any event, such an injury is not redressable for the same reasons that FOP's other purported injuries fail.

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